

FACULDADE DE MEDICINA UNIVERSIDADE D COIMBRA

MESTRADO INTEGRADO EM MEDICINA – TRABALHO FINAL

INÊS SOFIA TORRES ANTUNES

Bone mineral density evaluation in pediatric patients with Cystic Fibrosis

ARTIGO CIENTÍFICO ORIGINAL

ÁREA CIENTÍFICA DE PEDIATRIA

Trabalho realizado sob a orientação de:

MESTRE JULIANA RODA

PROFESSORA DOUTORA GUIOMAR OLIVEIRA

ABRIL/2022

Bone mineral density evaluation in pediatric patients with Cystic Fibrosis

Inês Sofia Torres Antunes^{1*}

Juliana Loureiro Fidalgo Roda^{1,2}

Guiomar Gonçalves de Oliveira^{1,2}

¹Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal

²Hospital Pediátrico, Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra, Portugal

* Pólo III – Pólo das Ciências da Saúde. Azinhaga de Santa Comba, Celas, 3000-548 Coimbra. Endereço eletrónico: isofia.antunes@gmail.com

Trabalho Final do 6.º ano médico com vista à atribuição do grau de Mestre no âmbito do Ciclo de Estudos do Mestrado Integrado em Medicina

Área Científica de Pediatria – Artigo Científico Original

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	5
ABSTRACT	6
RESUMO	7
INTRODUCTION	8
MATERIALS AND METHODS	10
Study variables	10
Statistical analysis	11
Ethics approval	11
RESULTS	12
DISCUSSION	20
CONCLUSION	24
AGRADECIMENTOS	25
REFERENCES	26

ABBREVIATIONS

- 25(OH)D 25-hydroxy-vitamin D
- BMD bone mineral density
- BMI body mass index
- CF Cystic Fibrosis
- CFDR Cystic Fibrosis-related diabetes
- CFTR Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator
- CHUC Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra
- DEXA dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
- FEV1 forced expiratory volume in one second
- FVC forced vital capacity
- IQR interquartile range
- LS lumbar spine
- p50 median
- PI pancreatic insufficient
- PS pancreatic sufficient
- SD standard deviation
- TH total hip
- \bar{x} mean

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a multisystemic, potentially fatal, autosomal recessive genetic disorder. Morbidity and mortality are mostly secondary to chronic pulmonary disease. Developments in treatments, quality of life, and clinical outcomes improved median life expectancy in CF patients, increasing the prevalence of new long-term complications like CF-related bone disease. Various factors play a part in the decrease of bone mineral density (BMD), thought to originate during childhood and adolescence.

Objectives: This study aims to retrospectively evaluate BMD in CF Portuguese pediatric patients, explore its correlation to other variables in this disease, and identify patients at greatest risk of developing CF-related bone disease.

Materials and methods: Retrospective evaluation of the 20 pediatric CF patients, followed in the Pediatric Hospital of the CF Reference Center of Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra, with at least one dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, between 2012 and 2021, was carried out. Analyzed variables included: chronological age, age at diagnosis, genotype, weight, height, body mass index (BMI), BMD, pulmonary function tests, serum 25-hydroxy-vitamin D, physical activity, and pancreatic function.

Results: Twenty patients, with a median age of 12 years, had mean Z-scores for BMD, weight, and BMI significantly lower than the reference population. The mean BMD Z-score was - 0.955 ± 1.355 for the lumbar spine (LS), and -1.053 ± 1.415 for the total hip (TH). Half the patients had reduced pulmonary function, 40% had vitamin D deficiency, and 85% were pancreatic insufficient. BMD was globally significantly lower in stunted, underweight patients or with reduced pulmonary function. Total hip BMD was lower in individuals with no physical activity (45% of patients). BMD was positively correlated with weight (r=0.867, p<0.001 LS; r=0.811, p<0.001 TH), height (r=0.565, p=0.009 LS; r=0.526, p=0.021 TH), BMI (r=0.723, p<0.001 LS; r=0.677, p<0.001 TH), forced expiratory volume in one second (r=0.653, p=0.002 LS; r=0.781, p<0.001 TH), and forced vital capacity (r=0.643, p=0.002 LS; r=0.779, p<0.001 TH). There was no correlation with chronological age, age of diagnosis, genotype, pancreatic function, and serum vitamin D.

Discussion and conclusion: Undernourished patients with decreased pulmonary function are at most risk of developing CF-related bone disease. Levels of physical activity also play a role in BMD. A multidisciplinary, preventive approach in CF patients, with BMD evaluation, is crucial to optimize outcomes and decrease health complications.

Keywords: Cystic Fibrosis, bone density, pulmonary function, nutritional status, pediatrics

RESUMO

Introdução: A Fibrose Quística (FQ) é uma doença genética autossómica recessiva, multissistémica e potencialmente fatal. A doença pulmonar crónica é a maior causa de morbimortalidade. Desenvolvimentos nos tratamentos, qualidade de vida e resultados clínicos melhoraram a esperança média de vida dos doentes com FQ, aumentando a prevalência de novas complicações a longo prazo, como a doença óssea. A diminuição da densidade mineral óssea (DMO) tem origem na infância e adolescência, sendo causada por vários fatores.

Objetivos: Este estudo pretende avaliar retrospetivamente a DMO em doentes portugueses com FQ, em idade pediátrica; explorar a correlação com outras variáveis e identificar os doentes em maior risco de desenvolver doença óssea.

Materiais e métodos: Foi realizada uma avaliação retrospetiva dos 20 doentes com FQ, seguidos no Hospital Pediátrico do Centro de Referência de FQ do Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra, que fizeram pelo menos uma absorciometria radiológica de dupla energia, entre 2012 e 2021. Variáveis em estudo incluem: idade cronológica, idade de diagnóstico, genótipo, peso, altura, índice de massa corporal (IMC), DMO, testes de função pulmonar, vitamina D sérica, atividade física e função pancreática.

Resultados: Vinte doentes, com idade mediana de 12 anos, apresentavam *Z*-scores médios de DMO, peso e IMC significativamente mais baixos que a população de referência. A média dos *Z*-scores de DMO na coluna lombar (CL) foi de -0,955±1,355 e no fémur total (FT) de - 1,053±1,415. Metade dos doentes tinham função pulmonar reduzida, 40% défice de vitamina D e 85% insuficiência pancreática. A DMO estava globalmente diminuída em doentes com baixa estatura, baixo peso ou função pulmonar reduzida. A DMO do fémur total era mais baixa em indivíduos sem atividade física (45% dos casos). Encontrámos correlação positiva entre a DMO e o peso (CL: r=0,867, p<0,001; FT: r=0,811, p<0,001), altura (CL: r=0,565, p=0,009; FT: r=0,526, p=0,021), IMC (CL: r=0,723, p<0,001; FT: r=0,677, p<0,001), volume expiratório forçado no primeiro segundo (CL: r=0,653, p=0,002 LS; FT: r=0,781, p<0,001) e capacidade vital forçada (CL: r=0,643, p=0,002 LS; FT: r=0,779, p<0,001). Não houve correlação com a idade cronológica, idade de diagnóstico, genótipo, função pancreática e vitamina D sérica.

Discussão e conclusão: Doentes malnutridos ou com diminuição da função pulmonar têm maior risco de ter doença óssea relacionada com a FQ. Níveis de atividade física também têm influência na DMO. Uma abordagem preventiva e multidisciplinar nos doentes com FQ, com avaliação da DMO, é crucial para otimizar os resultados e diminuir as complicações.

Palavras-chave: Fibrose Quística, densidade óssea, função pulmonar, estado nutricional, pediatria

INTRODUCTION

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a severe, life-limiting, autosomal recessive genetic disorder. It is caused by mutations in the *Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator* (*CFTR*) gene, located in chromosome $7q^{(1)}$, which affects chloride, bicarbonate, and sodium transport through the epithelial cell membranes⁽²⁾. The *F508del* gene mutation is the most common among more than 2000 gene variants identified⁽³⁾. In Portugal, the estimated prevalence of CF is 0.271 per 10,000⁽⁴⁾ and the incidence was 1:7769 new cases in newborns in 2020⁽⁵⁾.

Diagnosis of CF can be made by a positive sweat test, when chloride concentration in sweat is > 60mmol/L, or genetic testing, by identifying two known disease-causing mutations in the *CFTR* gene⁽¹⁾. In Portugal, since 2013, newborn screening was implemented by measuring the immunoreactive trypsinogen (IRT) and pancreatitis associated protein (PAP)^(1,5,6). Since 2018 CF was officially included in the national newborn screening program⁽⁵⁾.

Cystic fibrosis is a multisystemic disease affecting various organs with multiple clinical presentations. Disease manifestations include progressive decreased respiratory function and increased infection susceptibility, pancreatic insufficiency and malabsorption, and chronic inflammatory status^(2,3). Morbidity and mortality are mostly secondary to chronic pulmonary disease^(1,3). Improvements in treatments, quality of life, and clinical outcomes increased median life expectancy in CF patients, which is now above 40 years of age⁽³⁾.

The improved life expectancy of CF patients also increased the prevalence of new long-term complications, such as CF-related diabetes (CFRD), liver disease, and decreased bone mineral density (BMD)⁽⁷⁾. The prevalence of CF-related bone disease increases with age and includes decreased BMD and increased risk of pathologic fractures. Diminished BMD is a consequence of imbalanced bone remodeling, with increased bone resorption and decreased formation. Bone mineralization occurs mostly during infancy and adolescence and so decreased BMD in CF is thought to originate during these years^(8,9).

Factors affecting bone health in CF are not entirely known. Systemic chronic inflammation, pulmonary infections, malnutrition, pancreatic insufficiency, CFRD, calcium and vitamin D and K deficiencies, hypogonadism, delayed puberty, corticoid use, and decreased levels of physical exercise are thought to play a part. Altered function of *CFTR* may also have a direct effect on bone^(7,9). Specifically, the *F508del* gene mutation may slow new bone formation⁽¹⁰⁾, and individuals homozygous or heterozygous for this mutation may have lower BMD compared with other genotypes⁽¹¹⁾.

Routine bone densitometry by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) is recommended for BMD evaluation in CF patients starting between the ages of 8 and 10 and should be repeated in different intervals depending on BMD value, presence of risk factors, and age^(9,12,13).

Low BMD is more prevalent in children and adolescents with CF when compared to their healthy peers. CF patients can have pubertal delay resulting in suboptimal bone acquisition and lower peak bone mass accrual with premature bone loss ⁽⁹⁾. Nevertheless, BMD could be normal in patients with good nutritional status and preserved pulmonary function^(8,9). Physical activity and nutritional programs, with adequate supplementation, should be implemented early on, as well as prompt control of pulmonary infection and systemic inflammation, and minimization of the use of bone toxic medications. Appropriate follow-up of CF patients may prevent the detrimental effect of CF in bone health during growth, diminishing CF-related bone disease in adult patients and its consequences⁽⁹⁾.

In 2019, in Portugal, CF patients with less than 18 years were 52.47% of the CF Portuguese population⁽¹⁴⁾. To the best of our knowledge, currently, there are no studies focusing on reporting BMD, and possible correlation factors, in the CF Portuguese pediatric population. The CF Reference Center of Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra (CHUC) follows all patients diagnosed with CF in the center region of Portugal, allowing the study of the CF pediatric population of this region. With this study we aim to retrospectively evaluate BMD in these CF pediatric patients; investigate its relationship with chronological age, age of diagnosis, genotype, organized physical activity, pancreatic function, lung function, nutritional status, and vitamin D status; and identify patients at greatest risk of developing CF-related bone disease.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

A retrospective study was conducted including all pediatric CF patients who had at least one DEXA scan in the last 10 years, between 2012 and 2021, and were followed in the Pediatric Hospital of the CF Reference Center of CHUC.

Study variables

Diagnosis of CF had been established according to the current standards: positive sweat test and identification of two known disease-causing mutations. Hospital electronic medical records (*SClínico*[®]) were used to collect patient data. Studied variables included gender, age at DEXA scan in years, age at diagnosis in months, genotype, weight, height, body mass index (BMI), BMD, spirometry results, serum 25-hydroxy-vitamin D (25(OH)D), physical activity, and pancreatic function. The records closest to the date of the DEXA scan were used in this study and registered in an anonymized database.

DEXA scan was used to assess lumbar spine (LS) and total hip (TH) BMD and results were expressed as Z-scores adjusted for gender and age. When Z-scores were below -2, participants were classified as having "CF-related low BMD"^(9,12), Z-scores above or equal to -2 were labeled "not low".

Nutritional status was assessed by BMI (weight in kilograms/(height in meters)²), height, and weight. Values were registered and expressed as Z-scores adjusted for gender and age calculated using the 2000 CDC Growth Charts⁽¹⁵⁾. Participants were divided into groups of Z-scores below -2 and above/equal to -2. For BMI the groups are identified as "wasted" or "not wasted", respectively. For height as "stunted" or "not stunted" and for weight as "underweight" or "not underweight"⁽¹⁶⁾.

Spirometry results were used to measure lung function. Forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), and the ratio FEV1/FVC (Tiffeneau index) were recorded as percentage of predicted adjusted for gender, age, weight, and height. Patients were stratified, by severity of lung disease, in 4 categories defined by FEV1 percentage of predicted. Normal when FEV1 was of 90% or greater, mild when above or equal to 70% but below 90%, moderate when above or equal to 40% but below 70%, and severe when below $40\%^{(17)}$.

Vitamin D status was assessed by measuring serum 25(OH)D. Patients were classified as vitamin D sufficient if 25(OH)D levels were at or above 20 ng/mL, and deficient if levels were below 20 ng/mL^(13,18).

Participation, or not, in regular organized physical activity was recorded. Patients were also characterized as being pancreatic insufficient (PI) or sufficient (PS) based on measured levels of fecal pancreatic elastase-1 below/equal to 200 μ g/g or above this level, respectively⁽¹²⁾.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using IBM[®] SPSS[®] Statistics v27 for MacOS. Significance level was defined as $\alpha = 0.05$. Descriptive analysis of all variables was done. Data are presented as mean (\bar{x}) with standard deviation (SD) when quantitative variables follow a normal distribution or, in non-normally distributed variables, median (p50) with interquartile range (IQR) – difference between the 75th percentile and the 25th percentile. Maximum and minimum values are also presented. Categorical variables are presented as absolute (n) and relative (%) values. Normality of the quantitative variables was assessed by the Shapiro-Wilk test. For normally distributed variables parametric tests were used. For variables not following a normal distribution or with small sample size, inferior to 10, non-parametric tests were used.

Student's t-tests for single samples were used to evaluate differences between the BMD, BMI, height, and weight Z-scores of the children examined and those of the general population, assumed to have a mean value of 0 and SD of 1. They were also used to assess differences in mean BMI, height, weight, and FEV1 between the patients in this study and the Portuguese CF pediatric population of 2019 described in the Annual Report of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society Patient Registry of 2019⁽¹⁴⁾.

Differences in BMD Z-scores between groups were calculated by Mann-Whitney U tests. A student's t-test for paired samples was employed to assess whether there was a difference in the Z-scores for BMD of the LS and TH and the correlation between these values was calculated by computing the corresponding Pearson's coefficient.

Correlations between BMD Z-scores and other variables were examined with Pearson's (r) correlation coefficient (normally distributed variables) or Spearman's (ρ) correlation coefficient (non-normal variables). Absolute values of correlation coefficients were considered as a very weak (0.000 – 0.199), weak (0.200 – 0.399), moderate (0.400 – 0.599), strong (0.600 – 0.799), very strong (0.800 – 0.999) or excellent (1.000) correlation.

Ethics approval

The study of this data was approved by the Ethics Committee for Health of CHUC in March 2017 (CHUC-080-16).

RESULTS

The study included 20 CF patients, followed in this reference center, that had had their BMD assessed at least once by DEXA scan. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. Two individuals had CFRD, both with normal LS BMD. Due to the small number of patients with CFRD, its effect on BMD was not studied. Pancreatic insufficiency was present in most patients. Half of the participants had reduced pulmonary function. Other findings included reduced BMD, BMI, height, weight, and 25(OH)D levels. All patients were receiving daily supplements of cholecalciferol and vitamin K. Organized physical activities in these patients included football, judo, karate, gymnastics, running, cycling, swimming, dancing, and tennis. At the time of the DEXA scan, none of the patients were taking *CFTR* modulators.

Variables	$\overline{x} \pm SD$ or p50 (IQR)	Min; Max	n (%)
Age at DEXA scan (years)	12 (6.75)	8; 17	
Gender Male Female			8 (40%) 12 (60%)
Age at diagnosis (months)	11.5 (41.5)	0; 180	
Genotype <i>F508del / F508del</i> Heterozygous <i>F508del / R334W</i> <i>F508del / 711+1G-T</i> <i>F508del / 2184insA</i> <i>F508del / 3171delC</i> <i>F508del / G542X</i> <i>N1303K / A561E</i>			9 (45%) 4 (20%) 3 (15%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%)
Organized physical activity Yes No			11 (55%) 9 (45%)
Pancreatic function Pancreatic sufficient (PS) Pancreatic insufficient (PI)			3 (15%) 17 (85%)

 Table 1. Characteristics of study participants (n=20).

 \bar{x} , mean; SD, standard deviation; p50, median; IQR, interquartile range; Min, minimum; Max, maximum; DEXA, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry.

Table 1 (continuation). Characteristics of study participants (n=20).

Variables	$\overline{x} \pm SD$ or p50 (IQR)	Min; Max	n (%)
BMD of lumbar spine (Z-score) Not low CF-related low BMD	-0.955 ± 1.355	-4.6; 0.9	17 (85%) 3 (15%)
BMD of total hip (Z-score) (n=19) ^a Not low CF-related low BMD	-1.053 ± 1.415	-4.0; 0.7	14 (70%) 5 (25%)
Height (Z-score) Not stunted Stunted	-0.508 ± 1.350	-2.61; 2.69	16 (80%) 4 (20%)
Weight (Z-score) Not underweight Underweight	-0.828 ± 1.569	-5.29; 1.45	16 (80%) 4 (20%)
BMI (Z-score) Not wasted Wasted	-0.648 ± 1.275	-2.96; 1.27	16 (80%) 4 (20%)
FVC (%)	81.64 ± 27.80	30.10; 128.30	
FEV1/FVC (%)	93.20 ± 11.16	71.00; 112.20	
FEV1 (%) Pulmonary Function	79.47 ± 31.31	24.90; 132.90	
Normal Impaired			10 (50%)
Mild Moderate Severe			3 (15%) 3 (15%) 4 (20%)
Serum 25(OH)D (ng/mL) Sufficient Deficient	23.46 ± 9.28	9.80; 45.00	12 (60%) 8 (40%)

 \bar{x} , mean; SD, standard deviation; p50, median; IQR, interquartile range; Min, minimum; Max, maximum; BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxi-vitamin D.

^a Only 19 of the 20 participants had BMD measurements of the total hip, one of the participants only had BMD of the lumbar spine (n=19).

Difference between age at DEXA scan for males (median = 12.5) and females (median = 11.52) was not significantly different (U = 44; p = 0.759).

There was no statistically significant difference between the mean Z-scores for BMD of the LS and TH (t (18) = -0.338, p = 0.739) and there was a strong positive correlation (r = 0.770, p < 0.001) between these variables.

In the studied patients, mean Z-scores for BMI, weight, and BMD, but not height, were significantly lower than the average value of 0 of an age- and gender-matched healthy population. No statistically significant difference was found between the mean values of BMI, height, weight, and FEV1 of the studied patients and the Portuguese CF pediatric population in 2019⁽¹⁴⁾ (Table 2).

Variables		$\overline{x} \pm SD$	Test statistic	p value
Patients vs. general popu	lation (0 ±	: 1)		
BMD of lumbar spine (Z-s	core)	-0.955 ± 1.355	t (19) = -3.153	0.005
BMD of total hip (Z-score)		-1.053 ± 1.415	t (18) = -3.242	0.005
BMI (Z-score)		-0.648 ± 1.275	t (19) = -2.271	0.035
Height (Z-score)		-0.508 ± 1.350	t (19) = -1.681	0.109
Weight (Z-score)		-0.828 ± 1.569	t (19) = -2.359	0.029
Variables	\overline{x} a	$\overline{x} \pm SD^{b}$	Test statistic	p value
Patients vs. Portuguese CF pediatric population 2019 ⁽¹⁴⁾				
BMI (Z-score)	-0.3	-0.648 ± 1.275	t (19) = -1.219	0.238
Height (Z-score)	-0.5	-0.508 ± 1.350	t (19) = -0.025	0.980
Weight (Z-score)	-0.6	-0.828 ± 1.569	t (19) = -0.650	0.524
FEV1 (%)	83.8	79.47 ± 31.31	t (19) = -0.618	0.544

Table 2. Single sample T-tests (n=20).

 \bar{x} , mean; SD, standard deviation; BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second.

^a Mean values for Portuguese CF pediatric (<18 years) population in 2019⁽¹⁴⁾

^b Mean ± SD values for studied patients

As shown in Table 3, there were statistically significant differences in the median BMD Zscores of the total hip between patients enrolled in organized physical activities and those who were not, with the last having lower BMD. The same was not verified for LS BMD.

No statistically significant difference was found in the median BMD Z-scores of both the LS and TH between different gender, genotype (homozygous and heterozygous), pancreatic function (PS and PI), BMI (not wasted and wasted), and serum 25(OH)D (sufficient and deficient) groups.

However, median BMD Z-scores of different groups based on height (not stunted and stunted), weight (not underweight and underweight), and pulmonary function (normal and impaired) were statistically significantly different, with lower BMD present in patients who were stunted, underweight, and had impaired pulmonary function (Table 3).

Variables	p50	Mann-Whitney U test statistic (U)	p value
BMD of lumbar spine (Z-score)	(n=20)		
Gender		36	0.353
Male	-0.6		
Female	-0.9		
Genotype		47.5	0.879
F508del / F508del	-0.6		
Heterozygous	-1.0		
Organized physical activity		31.5	0.170
Yes	-0.6		
No	-1.0		
Pancreatic function		8	0.063
Pancreatic sufficient (PS)	0.6		
Pancreatic insufficient (PI)	-1.0		
Height		7	0.018
Not stunted	-0.6		
Stunted	-2.0		
Weight		11	0.047
Not underweight	-0.6		
Underweight	-1.7		

 Table 3. Independent samples non-parametric tests.

p50, median; BMD, bone mineral density.

 Table 3 (continuation).
 Independent samples non-parametric tests.

Variables	p50	Mann-Whitney U test statistic (U)	p value
BMD of lumbar spine (Z-score)	(n=20)		
BMI Not wasted Wasted	-0.6 -1.7	14.5	0.097
Pulmonary Function (FEV1) Normal Impaired	-0.1 -1.15	16.5	0.011
Serum 25(OH)D Sufficient Deficient	-0.6 -0.9	43.5	0.728
BMD of total hip (Z-score)	(n=19)		
Gender Male Female	-0.5 -1.2	27.5	0.173
Genotype <i>F508del / F508del</i> Heterozygous	-0.15 -1.5	22.5	0.076
Organized physical activity Yes No	-0.15 -2.4	14.5	0.013
Pancreatic function Pancreatic sufficient (PS) Pancreatic insufficient (PI)	0.0 -0.95	22.5	0.867
Height Not stunted Stunted	-0.3 -2.75	8	0.028
Weight Not underweight Underweight	-0.3 -2.75	4	0.009

p50, median; BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxi-vitamin D.

Variables	p50	Mann-Whitney U test statistic (U)	p value
BMD of total hip (Z-score)	(n=19)		
BMI		18.5	0.250
Not wasted	-0.6		
Wasted	-2.2		
Pulmonary Function (FEV1)		8	0.002
Normal	0.05		
Impaired	-2.4		
Serum 25(OH)D		19.5	0.057
Sufficient	-0.45		
Deficient	-2.0		

Table 3 (continuation). Independent samples non-parametric tests.

p50, median; BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxi-vitamin D.

Positive very strong correlation coefficients were found between Z-scores for BMD of the LS and TH and weight Z-scores. Strong correlations were found with FVC, FEV1 (Fig. 1), and BMI (Fig. 2). Moderate correlations with height, at both BMD measuring sites, and FEV1/FVC ratio at the lumbar spine. No statistically meaningful correlations were found between TH BMD Z-scores and FEV1/FVC ratio, and with serum 25-hydroxi-vitamin D, age at diagnosis and at DEXA scan, and both BMD Z-scores of the LS and TH (Table 4).



Figure 1. Correlations between Z-scores for BMD of the lumbar spine and total hip and FEV1 percent of predicted.



Figure 2. Correlations between Z-scores for BMD of the lumbar spine and total hip and BMI Z-scores.

Variables	ρ	r	p value
BMD of lumbar spine (Z-score) (n=20)			
FVC (%)		0.643	0.002
FEV1/FVC (%)		0.452	0.045
FEV1 (%)		0.653	0.002
BMI (Z-score)		0.723	< 0.001
Height (Z-score)		0.565	0.009
Weight (Z-score)		0.867	< 0.001
Serum 25(OH)D (ng/mL)		-0.016	0.947
Age at DEXA scan (years)	-0.17		0.473
Age at diagnosis (months)	0.142		0.550

Table 4. Correlations between BMD Z-scores and different variables.

r, Pearson's correlation coefficient; ρ, Spearman's correlation coefficient; BMD, bone mineral density; FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; BMI, body mass index; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxi-vitamin D; DEXA, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry.

Variables	ρ	r	p value
BMD of total hip (Z-score) (n=19)			
FVC (%)		0.779	< 0.001
FEV1/FVC (%)		0.382	0.106
FEV1 (%)		0.781	< 0.001
BMI (Z-score)		0.677	< 0.001
Height (Z-score)		0.526	0.021
Weight (Z-score)		0.811	< 0.001
Serum 25(OH)D (ng/mL)		-0.289	0.230
Age at DEXA scan (years)	-0.249		0.304
Age at diagnosis (months)	0.142		0.561

Table 4 (continuation). Correlations between BMD Z-scores and different variables.

r, Pearson's correlation coefficient; ρ, Spearman's correlation coefficient; BMD, bone mineral density; FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; BMI, body mass index; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxi-vitamin D; DEXA, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry.

DISCUSSION

The Pediatric department of the CF Reference Center of CHUC follows all pediatric patients diagnosed with CF in the center region of Portugal. This study illustrated the bone mineralization status of this population and characterized other related variables and their correlation with BMD.

Mean Z-scores for BMI, weight, and BMD, but not height, in our patients were significantly lower than those of the general population, similar to the results of a previous study⁽¹⁹⁾. Undernourishment is still common in CF patients even with improved follow-up⁽¹³⁾. In our patients mean FEV1 was of 79.47% (80.86% - 92.7% in other studies)⁽¹⁹⁻²¹⁾, with 50% of them having impaired pulmonary function (similar to 49% in a previous study)⁽²¹⁾. Pulmonary function, as well as anthropometric measurements, were lower but not significantly different from those of the Portuguese CF pediatric population in $2019^{(14)}$.

We studied available data for BMD of both the LS and TH. Currently, in individuals with less than 20 years of age, evaluation of BMD is only recommended at the LS^(9,12). Variability in the structural development of the hip meant that it was not considered an ideal DEXA site in the pediatric population. However, recent publications stated that normative data for the hip for healthy children are now available⁽²²⁾, and measuring of this site should be considered in CF patients⁽²³⁾.

There was no difference in median BMD between gender. LS BMD of the participants had a mean Z-score of -0.955, with 15% of the population having CF-related low BMD, with Z-scores inferior to -2. Results were similar in some studies. In a Polish study mean BMD was -0.95 and 17% of the population had low $BMD^{(19)}$. In Australian CF patients mean BMD was -0.8 and 15.8% had low $BMD^{(24)}$. In New Zealand⁽²⁵⁾ mean BMD was -0.92. Other studies had higher mean BMD (-0.4 or 0.1)^(20,21) and/or lower percentage of participants with low BMD (8.1%, 8% or 0%)^(20,21,26). These disparities may be justified by differences between the selected patients' clinical status, sample size, and representability, as well as possible different reference data. Furthermore, one study used height-adjusted BMD, minimizing the effect of body size⁽²⁶⁾.

One of the limitations of our study is the lack of correction of BMD data for height. DEXA evaluation measures an "areal" bone density rather than a true volumetric BMD and is influenced by body size. BMD measured through DEXA can be underestimated in smaller bones and overestimated in larger bones and thus should be corrected for height. This influences both individual and repeated evaluations. Changes in BMD values can be mistakenly interpreted as variations only in bone content rather than also considering changes in body size^(9,13,23). While mean height Z-scores in study participants did not differ from the

expected value of 0, 20% had Z-scores below -2. The absence of correction of BMD for height means that our results may show lower values than the actual BMD of our patients.

BMD was significantly lower in stunted and underweight participants as well as those with impaired pulmonary function. We found positive correlation between BMD values and BMI, height, weight, FEV1, and FVC, reinforcing the notion that poor nutrition and pulmonary function, as markers of disease severity, are determinant factors for lower BMD. Previous published studies also report correlations between BMI and BMD^(19,21,24-26), and FEV1 and BMD^(19,20,24-26). In one study conducted in Chile, no significant correlation was found between BMD and FEV1. The authors associated this lack of correlation with lower dispersion of, mostly normal, FEV1 values in their participants⁽²¹⁾.

Although participants were taking cholecalciferol supplementation and lived in a mediterranean country with sun exposure, vitamin D deficiency was found in 40% of them. Mean serum 25(OH)D was 23.46 ng/mL which, while not considered vitamin D deficiency, is lower than optimal levels of above 30 ng/mL^(18,27). Similar means of 21.5 – 25.6 ng/mL were found in other studies^(19,21,26), showing that low 25(OH)D levels are common even with supplementation and that an increase in doses might be needed. Vitamin D levels vary through the year and should be evaluated at the end of winter⁽²⁷⁾, which was not the case in all participants of our study. Despite low 25(OH)D levels being usual, we found no significant correlation between this variable and BMD, in accordance with other reports in pediatric populations^(19,21,26). There was also no significant difference in BMD Z-scores between vitamin D sufficient and deficient patients.

Pancreatic insufficiency was present in 85% of patients, which is consistent with other studied populations (67% - 100% were pancreatic insufficient)^(19-21,24-26). No significant difference in BMD was found between pancreatic sufficient and insufficient participants. Variable results were found in the literature, with reports of both correlation⁽²⁸⁾ and no correlation^(21,26) between BMD and pancreatic function.

More than half of the individuals had regular organized physical activity (55%). We found no significant difference in LS BMD between patients enrolled in organized physical activities and those who were not, similar to the results of *Bravo et al*⁽²¹⁾. However, in our participants, TH BMD Z-scores of patients with no physical activity were significantly lower than those physically active.

We found no significant difference in BMD between homozygous and non-homozygous patients, concordant with other reports^(24,26). A study reports correlation between BMD and age at diagnosis⁽²⁰⁾, another, like us, found no correlation⁽²¹⁾. There was also no correlation found between BMD and age at DEXA scan, as described by *Kuczmarski et al*⁽¹⁹⁾, but some studies

found negative correlation between these variables^(20,24,26). *Sharma et al* studied patients with multiple BMD evaluations and found a decrease in BMD values over time⁽²⁵⁾. This emphasizes the impaired bone accrual in CF and suboptimal bone acquisition during adolescence.

The main limitation of our study is the small number of participants, despite including all pediatric CF patients followed in CHUC, that had at least one DEXA scan in the last 10 years. Presently there are no studies characterizing all the pediatric CF population of Portugal even though it represents 52.47% of the Portuguese CF population, with 191 patients⁽¹⁴⁾. As there is no national epidemiological study and because of the small number of patients (n=20), the sample could be unrepresentative, and the statistical inferential analysis is limited. The lack of correlation between BMD and gender, age at scan, age at diagnosis, 25(OH)D, pancreatic function, genotype, and physical activity (with LS BMD) may merely reflect the small sample size. Considering this limitation, we decided to only do univariate analysis and not to investigate partial and multiple correlations with BMD.

Other drawbacks include the poor characterization of some variables. Physical activity is inadequately reported, being only categorized as present or absent. Recommendations suggest that children and adolescents with CF engage in 20 - 30 minutes of physical activity, particularly weight-bearing exercise, three times a week⁽¹³⁾. In future prospective studies, more accurate, detailed, and measurable data should be obtained regarding physical activity levels and type of physical activity.

Weaknesses also include the study being retrospective and thus the absence of some information. Tanner stage and prevalence of hypogonadism were not known, preventing the evaluation of the possible effect of delayed puberty in low BMD. The use of corticoids, frequency of pulmonary exacerbations, fracture history, and inflammatory status were also not assessed. Detailed information regarding dietary intake was also lacking, as well as vitamin K, calcium, and parathyroid hormone status. All this impairs a full comprehension of the contribution of different factors to CF-related bone disease.

In the future, careful selection of variables and their measurement is needed to evaluate the impact and contribution of each one to bone health. Correction for height and delayed puberty in BMD evaluation should also be considered.

Implementation of new therapies, with *CFTR* modulators, may improve overall health in CF patients, for instance enhancing nutrition and pulmonary function, and eventually having a direct effect on bone⁽²⁹⁾. The effect of these interventions in bone health should also be explored in the future.

Regardless of being the only study specifically characterizing BMD and correlated factors in pediatric CF patients in Portugal, the small number of patients and the retrospective design were big limitations. Future multicenter and longitudinal studies are needed to correctly characterize the Portuguese pediatric CF population, its BMD status and relation to other variables.

CONCLUSION

Despite improvement in treatment and follow-up, CF patients are still very much at risk of low BMD. In this study, we found lower TH BMD in patients who were not engaged in organized physical activity. Positive correlation was also found between BMD and pulmonary function (FVC and FEV1), and nutritional status (height, weight, and BMI). This reinforces the notion that patients at greatest risk of developing CF-related bone disease, during childhood, adolescence or earlier in adulthood, were found to be those with severe disease, having decreased pulmonary function and being undernourished.

We stress the importance of a multidisciplinary follow-up, with adequate nutrition, vitamin supplementation, treatments, and implementation of physical activity. Screening for CF-related bone disease, with BMD evaluation, is crucial, particularly in children and adolescents with deteriorating pulmonary function and poorer nutritional status. Implementation of preventive measures can decrease health complications in these vulnerable patients.

AGRADECIMENTOS

Agradeço a todos os que, de alguma forma, contribuíram para a elaboração deste trabalho.

Agradeço em especial à Dr.^a Juliana Roda a sua simpatia, dedicação ao ensino e inspiração para a prática médica futura. Agradeço o desafio proposto, a orientação, a disponibilidade, as sugestões e a paciência, desde o início.

Agradeço à Professora Doutora Guiomar Oliveira os conhecimentos partilhados em Pediatria, a sua correção científica e pertinência das revisões.

Agradeço aos meus pais, à minha família e aos meus amigos o apoio, a presença constante, a paciência e a motivação ao longo da minha vida e do meu percurso académico.

REFERENCES

1. Direção-Geral da Saúde. Diagnóstico da Fibrose Quística em Idade Pediátrica e no Adulto. Norma de Orientação Clínica nº 031/2012. Portugal: DGS; 2015.

2. Calella P, Valerio G, Brodlie M, Donini LM, Siervo M. Cystic fibrosis, body composition, and health outcomes: a systematic review. Nutrition. 2018;55-56:131-9.

3. Elborn JS. Cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 2016;388(10059):2519-31.

4. Farrell PM. The prevalence of cystic fibrosis in the European Union. J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7(5):450-3.

5. Vilarinho L, Garcia P, Pinho e Costa P. Programa Nacional de Rastreio Neonatal. Relatório 2020. Lisbon: INSA, IP; 2021.

6. Marcão A, Barreto C, Pereira L, Vaz LG, Cavaco J, Casimiro A, et al. Cystic Fibrosis Newborn Screening in Portugal: PAP Value in Populations with Stringent Rules for Genetic Studies. Int J Neonatal Screen. 2018;4(3):22.

7. Haworth CS. Impact of cystic fibrosis on bone health. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2010;16(6):616-22.

8. Ubago-Guisado E, Cavero-Redondo I, Alvarez-Bueno C, Vlachopoulos D, Martínez-Vizcaíno V, Gracia-Marco L. Bone Health in Children and Youth with Cystic Fibrosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Matched Cohort Studies. J Pediatr. 2019;215:178-86.e16.

9. Sermet-Gaudelus I, Bianchi ML, Garabedian M, Aris RM, Morton A, Hardin DS, et al. European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines. J Cyst Fibros. 2011;10 Suppl 2:S16-23.

10. Paccou J, Fardellone P, Cortet B. Cystic fibrosis-related bone disease. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2013;19(6):681-6.

11. King SJ, Topliss DJ, Kotsimbos T, Nyulasi IB, Bailey M, Ebeling PR, et al. Reduced bone density in cystic fibrosis: DeltaF508 mutation is an independent risk factor. Eur Respir J. 2005;25(1):54-61.

12. Direção-Geral da Saúde. Tratamento e Seguimento da Fibrose Quística em Idade Pediátrica e no Adulto. Norma de Orientação Clínica nº 032/2012. Portugal: DGS; 2015.

13. Turck D, Braegger CP, Colombo C, Declercq D, Morton A, Pancheva R, et al. ESPEN-ESPGHAN-ECFS guidelines on nutrition care for infants, children, and adults with cystic fibrosis. Clin Nutr. 2016;35(3):557-77.

14. Orenti A, Zolin A, Jung A, van Rens J, Fox A, Krasnyk M, et al. ECFSPR Annual Report 2019. 2021.

15. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Mei Z, et al. 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: methods and development. Vital Health Stat 11. 2002(246):1-190.

16. World Health Organization. WHO child growth standards : training course on child growth assessment. Geneva: WHO; 2008.

17. Flume PA, O'Sullivan BP, Robinson KA, Goss CH, Mogayzel PJ, Jr., Willey-Courand DB, et al. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary guidelines: chronic medications for maintenance of lung health. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;176(10):957-69.

18. Royal Brompton Hospital Paediatric Cystic Fibrosis Team. Clinical Guidelines: Care of Children with Cystic Fibrosis 8th edition ed: Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust; 2020.

19. Sands D, Mielus M, Umlawska W, Lipowicz A, Oralewska B, Walkowiak J. Evaluation of factors related to bone disease in Polish children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Adv Med Sci. 2015;60(2):315-20.

20. Donadio MV, Souza GC, Tiecher G, Heinzmann-Filho JP, Paim TF, Hommerding PX, et al. Bone mineral density, pulmonary function, chronological age, and age at diagnosis in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2013;89(2):151-7.

21. Bravo MP, Balboa P, Torrejón C, Bozzo R, Boza ML, Contreras I, et al. Bone mineral density, lung function, vitamin D and body composition in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis: a multicenter study. Nutr Hosp. 2018;35(4):789-95.

22. Ward LM, Konji VN. Advances in the Bone Health Assessment of Children. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2020;49(4):613-36.

23. Williams KM, Darukhanavala A, Hicks R, Kelly A. An update on methods for assessing bone quality and health in Cystic fibrosis. J Clin Transl Endocrinol. 2022;27:100281.

24. Smith N, Lim A, Yap M, King L, James S, Jones A, et al. Bone mineral density is related to lung function outcomes in young people with cystic fibrosis-A retrospective study. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2017;52(12):1558-64.

25. Sharma S, Jaksic M, Fenwick S, Byrnes C, Cundy T. Accrual of Bone Mass in Children and Adolescents With Cystic Fibrosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(5):1734-9.

26. Atlas G, Yap M, Lim A, Vidmar S, Smith N, King L, et al. The clinical features that contribute to poor bone health in young Australians living with cystic fibrosis: A recommendation for BMD screening. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2021;56(7):2014-22.

27. Tangpricha V, Kelly A, Stephenson A, Maguiness K, Enders J, Robinson KA, et al. An update on the screening, diagnosis, management, and treatment of vitamin D deficiency in individuals with cystic fibrosis: evidence-based recommendations from the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(4):1082-93.

28. Douros K, Loukou I, Nicolaidou P, Tzonou A, Doudounakis S. Bone mass density and associated factors in cystic fibrosis patients of young age. J Paediatr Child Health. 2008;44(12):681-5.

29. Putman MS, Anabtawi A, Le T, Tangpricha V, Sermet-Gaudelus I. Cystic fibrosis bone disease treatment: Current knowledge and future directions. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18 Suppl 2:S56-s65.